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While Plaintiff brought this action for his
own benefit, it can be argued that other
persons who were terminated and had the
same deferral-of-bonus option to the De-
ferred Compensation Plan would have
stood to gain a benefit if the Court deter-
mined that the plan was covered by
ERISA.  See Jones, 736 F.Supp. at 1247.

IV. CONCLUSION

In light of all the foregoing information,
the Court cannot say that Plaintiff’s argu-
ments were frivolous or made in bad faith.
Although Plaintiff did not assert the
strongest of arguments in favor of his posi-
tion, the Court must nonetheless be mind-
ful of ERISA’s purpose ‘‘to promote the
interests of plan beneficiaries and allow
them to enforce their statutory rights.’’
Jones, 736 F.Supp. at 1245.  Having no
definitive basis for establishing bad faith,
the Court finds that a fee award is unwar-
ranted and the ‘‘possible disincentive to
potentially meritorious ERISA plaintiffs
overrides Defendants’ interest in not pay-
ing to defend the lawsuit.’’  Kazazian v.
Bartlett & Bartlett LLP, No. 03 Civ. 7699,
2007 WL 4563909, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Dec.19,
2007).  The factors taken as a whole here
do not support an award of attorney’s fees
to Fidelity and I am recommending to
Judge Garaufis that Defendant’s motion
for an award of attorney’s fees be DE-
NIED.

Any objections to this Report and
Recommendation must be filed with the
Clerk of the Court within 10 days of
service and failure to file objections
within this period waives the right to
appeal.  See 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(c)
(2006);  Fed.R.Civ.P. 6(a), 6(e), and 72;
Beverly v. Walker, 118 F.3d 900, 901 (2d
Cir.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 883, 118 S.Ct.
211, 139 L.Ed.2d 147 (1997);  Savoie v.
Merchants Bank, 84 F.3d 52, 60 (2d Cir.
1996).  Therefore, the parties are directed

to file any written objections to this Re-
port and Recommendation with Judge Ga-
raufis not later than 10 days from the date
of this Order.

SO ORDERED.

March 5, 2008.

,
  

Mamadou DOUCOURE, Plaintiff,

v.

MATLYN FOOD, INC., Defendant.

No. CV 07–3839(JG)(JO).

United States District Court,
E.D. New York.

April 15, 2008.

Background:  Employee brought putative
collective action against employer, seeking
to recover unpaid overtime compensation,
pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act
(FLSA) and New York Labor Law. Em-
ployee sought approval of opt-in notice of
pendency for dissemination to putative
class plaintiffs.

Holdings:  The District Court, James Or-
enstein, United States Magistrate Judge,
held that:

(1) appropriate end point for lookback pe-
riod for providing notice was the date
of the notice, i.e., notice of pendency
would be provided to potentially simi-
larly-situated plaintiffs employed by
defendant in three-year period preced-
ing date of the notice, and

(2) it was not necessary to allow discovery,
to determine the factual accuracy of
plaintiff employee’s well-pleaded alle-
gations, before authorizing notice of
pendency.
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Leave granted to disseminate notice of
pendency.

1. Labor and Employment O2251
Because the Fair Labor Standards

Act (FLSA) is a remedial act, its exemp-
tions are to be narrowly construed, and the
employer bears the burden of establishing
that the claimed exemption applies to its
employees.  Fair Labor Standards Act of
1938, § 1 et seq., 29 U.S.C.A. § 201 et seq.

2. Labor and Employment O2377.5
A court may, but need not, authorize

opt-in notification, to employees similarly
situated to the plaintiff employee, regard-
ing pendency of putative collective action
alleging violation of Fair Labor Standards
Act’s (FLSA) overtime provisions, and di-
rect the defendant employer to disclose
the names and addresses of similarly situ-
ated potential plaintiffs.  Fair Labor Stan-
dards Act of 1938, § 16(b), 29 U.S.C.A.
§ 216(b).

3. Labor and Employment O2375
Plaintiff employee need only make a

modest factual showing sufficient to dem-
onstrate that plaintiff and other potential
plaintiffs, together, were victims of a com-
mon policy or plan that violated the law, in
order to show plaintiff and other potential
plaintiffs are similarly situated, as thresh-
old issue regarding court authorization for
opt-in notification, to employees similarly
situated to the plaintiff employee, regard-
ing pendency of putative collective action
alleging violation of Fair Labor Standards
Act’s (FLSA) overtime provisions.  Fair
Labor Standards Act of 1938, § 16(b), 29
U.S.C.A. § 216(b).

4. Labor and Employment O2375
Plaintiff employee’s burden of show-

ing that plaintiff and other potential plain-
tiffs are similarly situated, as threshold
issue regarding court authorization for
opt-in notification, to employees similarly

situated to the plaintiff employee, regard-
ing pendency of putative collective action
alleging violation of Fair Labor Standards
Act’s (FLSA) overtime provisions, is not a
stringent one, and the court need only
reach a preliminary determination that po-
tential plaintiffs are similarly situated.
Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, § 16(b),
29 U.S.C.A. § 216(b).

5. Labor and Employment O2377.5
For purposes of providing opt-in noti-

fication, to employees similarly situated to
plaintiff employee, regarding pendency of
putative collective action alleging violation
of Fair Labor Standards Act’s (FLSA)
overtime provisions, which action was
based on well-pleaded allegations that em-
ployer willfully violated FLSA, thereby
triggering three-year statute of limitations,
the appropriate end point for lookback pe-
riod for providing notice was the date of
the notice, i.e., notice of pendency would
be provided to potentially similarly-situat-
ed plaintiffs employed by defendant in
three-year period preceding date of the
notice.  Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938,
§ 16(b), 29 U.S.C.A. § 216(b); Portal–to–
Portal Act of 1947, §§ 6(a), 7(b), 29
U.S.C.A. §§ 255(a), 256(b).

6. Labor and Employment O2377.5
It was not necessary to allow discov-

ery, to determine the factual accuracy of
plaintiff employee’s well-pleaded allega-
tions that employer violated Fair Labor
Standards Act’s (FLSA) overtime provi-
sions, before the court authorized opt-in
notification, to employees similarly situat-
ed to plaintiff employee, regarding pen-
dency of the putative collective action.
Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, § 16(b),
29 U.S.C.A. § 216(b).

Diane McFadin, David Bruce Rankin,
David B. Rankin, Attorney at Law, New
York, NY, for Plaintiff.
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Douglas Peter Catalano, Neil G. Spar-
ber, Fulbright & Jaworski, L.L.P., New
York, NY, for Defendant.

ORDER

JAMES ORENSTEIN, United States
Magistrate Judge:

Plaintiff Mamadou Doucoure (‘‘Douc-
oure’’) seeks approval of a notice of pen-
dency for dissemination to other persons
similarly situated to himself pursuant to 29
U.S.C. § 216(b).  Defendant Matlyn Food,
Inc. (‘‘Matlyn’’) objects to both the content
and timing of Doucoure’s proposed notice.
For the reasons explained below, I now
grant Doucoure leave to disseminate the
attached modified notice of pendency to
putative class plaintiffs.

I. Background

Doucoure filed this action on September
13, 2007 to recover unpaid overtime com-
pensation from Matlyn pursuant to the
Fair Labor Standards Act (‘‘FLSA’’), 29
U.S.C. § 201, et seq., and New York Labor
Law. See Docket Entry (‘‘DE’’) 1 (Com-
plaint).  Doucoure alleges that he has been
employed on an hourly basis as a store
clerk for Matlyn since 1992, and that he
currently holds the position of assistant
manager.  Complaint ¶ 12;  DE 17 Ex. C
(Affidavit of Mamadou Doucoure) (‘‘Douc-
oure Aff.’’) ¶ 8. He further alleges that,
despite ‘‘routinely’’ working in excess of
forty hours per week, Matlyn knowingly
failed to pay him for those excess hours as
required by the FLSA.1 Complaint ¶¶ 12–
13, 24.  He further alleges that Matlyn’s
‘‘pay practices’’ deprived ‘‘similarly situat-
ed hourly employees’’ of overtime pay to

which they, too, were entitled.  Complaint
¶¶ 15–16.  Matlyn denies the allegations;
with respect to Doucoure in particular the
company asserts that he was a salaried
employee rather than an hourly wage-
earner, and therefore not entitled to over-
time pay under the Act.

On February 6, 2008, the parties ap-
peared before me for an initial conference.
Because the case involved a potential col-
lective action under the FLSA (rather than
a class action pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 23),
I directed the parties to confer as to the
form and content of a notice of pendency
to be disseminated to putative class mem-
bers, and to either circulate the notice on
consent or promptly bring any disputes in
that regard to my attention.  See DE 13
(minute entry).  On March 28, 2008, Mat-
lyn filed a letter objecting to several as-
pects of Doucoure’s proposed notice, in-
cluding the time period it covered, and the
scope of potential plaintiffs to whom it
would be sent.  DE 16.2  Matlyn included
with its submission a competing proposal
that it believes is more appropriate.  Id.
Ex. C (‘‘Matlyn’s Notice’’).  Doucoure filed
a response the following week defending
his original notice and seeking approval
from the court to distribute that notice to
current and former Matlyn employees to
whom Doucoure believes he is similarly
situated.  See DE 17 Ex. A (‘‘Doucoure’s
Notice’’).

II. Discussion

A. Applicable Law

[1] The FLSA requires that employees
be paid one and one-half times their nor-

1. Doucoure concedes that as of approximately
November 12, 2006, he has been paid appro-
priately for all hours worked, including over-
time hours at the required rate of time-and-a-
half.  Complaint ¶¶ 12, 26;  Doucoure Aff.
¶ 13.

2. In a footnote in its letter, Matlyn also ar-
gued that discovery should be taken to verify
certain of Doucoure’s allegations prior to cir-
culating any notice of pendency.  DE 16 at 1
n. 1.
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mal wages for working in excess of forty
hours per week.  29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).
The statute exempts certain employees
from its overtime requirements, including
‘‘any employee employed in a bona fide
executive, administrative, or professional
capacity TTT, or in the capacity of outside
salesman TTTT’’ 29 U.S.C. § 213(a)(1).
However, because the FLSA is a remedial
act, ‘‘its exemptions TTT are to be narrowly
construed’’, and the employer bears the
burden of establishing that the claimed
exemption applies to its employees.  Mar-
tin v. Malcolm Pirnie, Inc., 949 F.2d 611,
614 (2d Cir.1991) (citation omitted).

An employee claiming that the employer
has violated the FLSA’s overtime provi-
sions may bring a lawsuit ‘‘for and in
behalf of himself TTT and other employees
similarly situated.’’  29 U.S.C. § 216(b).
Such other employees can become plain-
tiffs, and thereby be bound by the action’s
determination, only by affirmatively acting
to do so:  ‘‘[n]o employee shall be a party
plaintiff to any such action unless he gives
his consent in writing to become such a
party and such consent is filed in the court
in which such action is brought.’’  Id. The
question can thus arise as to what steps, if
any, the plaintiff who commences the ac-
tion can and should take to alert other
potential plaintiffs of the action’s pendency
and their opportunity to join it before their
respective claims become time-barred.3

[2] A court may, but need not, author-
ize such notification, and direct an employ-
er defendant to disclose the names and
addresses of similarly situated potential
plaintiffs.  Hoffmann–La Roche, Inc. v.
Sperling, 493 U.S. 165, 169, 110 S.Ct. 482,
107 L.Ed.2d 480 (1989);  Braunstein v. E.

Photographic Lab., Inc., 600 F.2d 335, 336
(2d Cir.1979).  The threshold issue in de-
ciding whether to authorize such ‘‘opt-in’’
notice is to determine whether other em-
ployees to whom such notice might be sent
are ‘‘similarly situated.’’  Hoffmann, 982
F.Supp. at 261.

[3, 4] Although neither the FLSA nor
its implementing regulations defines the
term ‘‘similarly situated,’’ plaintiffs need
only make ‘‘a modest factual showing suffi-
cient to demonstrate that they and poten-
tial plaintiffs together were victims of a
common policy or plan that violated the
law.’’  Id. (citations omitted).  This burden
‘‘is not a stringent one, and the Court need
only reach a preliminary determination
that potential plaintiffs are ‘similarly situ-
ated.’ ’’  Id. That this burden is significant-
ly less exacting than the matters that must
be demonstrated to sustain certification of
a class under Federal Rule of Civil Proce-
dure 23—numerosity, commonality, typi-
cality, and adequate representation—
makes sense.  The FLSA’s opt-in provi-
sion simply provides an opportunity for
potential plaintiffs to join the action but
does not bind those who do not;  by con-
trast, the ‘‘opt-out’’ regime under Rule 23
does bind absent class members who nev-
ertheless are deemed to have had ade-
quate opportunities to participate in the
action brought on their behalf.  See id. at
263 (citations omitted);  Rodolico v. Unisys
Corp., 199 F.R.D. 468, 482 (E.D.N.Y.2001).

B. The Proper ‘‘Opt–In’’ Period Is
Three Years From The Date Of The
Notice

[5] Doucoure argues that the notice of
pendency should be provided to any em-

3. Claims of willful violations are subject to a
three year statute of limitations under the
FLSA. 29 U.S.C. § 255(a).  The limitations
period is tolled with respect to other potential
plaintiffs only if they consent to join the law-

suit.  Hoffmann v. Sbarro, 982 F.Supp. 249,
260 (S.D.N.Y.1997) (citing Soler v. G & U,
Inc., 86 F.R.D. 524, 528–529 (S.D.N.Y.1980));
see 29 U.S.C. § 256.
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ployee similarly situated to Doucoure who
worked at Matlyn in the three-year period
prior to the filing of the instant complaint
on September 13, 2007.  DE 17 at 2. Mat-
lyn raises no dispute as to the beginning
date of that period—that is, it appears to
be content to have the notice provided to
similarly situated employees (if any) whom
it employed as far back as September 13,
2004—but it does object to setting the
ending date for the relevant period as the
date on which Doucoure filed his com-
plaint.  Matlyn argues that Doucoure con-
ceded in the complaint that Matlyn has
paid him for all hours he worked since
August 2006, and therefore that he is not
an appropriate representative for anyone
seeking to recover damages after that
date.  DE 16 at 1. I conclude that neither
party is correct, and that the appropriate
period is three years prior to the date of
the notice itself.

Doucoure’s well-pleaded allegations that
Matlyn willfully violated the FLSA are
sufficient to trigger the three year statute
of limitations.  See 29 U.S.C. § 255(a);
Complaint ¶¶ 24–25.  For any similarly sit-
uated employee who seeks to join in this
collective action, the date of the notice is
significant to the limitations period, but
the date of Doucoure’s complaint is not.
See 29 U.S.C. § 256(b) (a collective action
under the FLSA is commenced with re-
spect to a party not named in the com-
plaint on the date she files written consent
with the court to opt-in);  Anglada v. Lin-
ens ‘N Things, Inc., Slip Copy, 2007 WL
1552511, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. May 29, 2007) (it
is more in keeping with § 256(b) to con-
strue the limitations period as beginning to
run three years prior to the date of the
notice rather than on the date on which

the complaint was filed) (citing Gjurovich
v. Emmanuel’s Marketplace, Inc., 282
F.Supp.2d 91, 98 (S.D.N.Y.2003) (relying
on the date on which the collective action
notice was issued)).  Any employee simi-
larly situated to Doucoure who worked for
Matlyn within three years of the date of
the notice should therefore be provided
with notice of the instant lawsuit and of
the opportunity to opt into it as a plain-
tiff .4

C. Doucoure’s Proposed Class Is Ap-
propriate And The Notice May Be
Sent Without Further Discovery

Doucoure proposes to send the notice of
pendency to the following putative class
members:

[A]ny and all employees who have
worked at MATLYN in New York State
at any time within the last three years
or who are currently employed there if
they:

1. Were employed as an hourly em-
ployee;  and

2. Did not receive overtime compensa-
tion at the rate of time and one-half
for any work they performed in ex-
cess of 40 hours each week.

Doucoure’s Notice at 2. Matlyn raises sev-
eral objections to Doucoure’s proposed
class.  Specifically, it argues that Douc-
oure was an exempt employee, and, even if
he was mis-classified as such, he is only
‘‘similarly situated’’ to other employees
Matlyn treated as exempt.  DE 16 at 2.
Matlyn further claims that because Douc-
oure worked full-time, he is not similarly
situated to part-time employees.  Id. Fi-
nally, Matlyn argues that Doucoure has

4. The parties are of course free to go back
even farther in time and disseminate the no-
tice to persons who worked for Matlyn as
early as September 2004 but whose employ-
ment ended more than three years before the

date of the notice.  However, it would appear
that providing notice to such employees
would serve no useful purpose as any FLSA
claims they might have had are now time-
barred.
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not provided evidence sufficient to estab-
lish that Matlyn failed to pay any employ-
ee other than himself for overtime work.
Id. at 1 n. 1. Because the allegations in the
Complaint are sufficient to state a cause of
action under the FLSA and adequate to
maintain the case as a collective action,
and because Matlyn’s objections are pre-
mature, Doucoure may circulate the at-
tached modified notice of pendency to his
proposed class.

Doucoure alleges that he worked as an
hourly employee for Matlyn;  that both he
and similarly situated employees regularly
worked in excess of forty hours per week;
and that Matlyn employed a practice of
knowingly failing to pay them for that
work in violation of the FLSA. Complaint
¶¶ 12–13, 15–16, 24.  Those well-pleaded
allegations are sufficient to satisfy Douc-
oure’s burden at this stage.  See Hoff-
mann, 982 F.Supp. at 261 (citing Jackson
v. New York Telephone Co., 163 F.R.D.
429, 431 (S.D.N.Y.1995) (at the preliminary
notice stage, ‘‘plaintiffs are only required
to demonstrate a factual nexus that sup-
ports a finding that potential plaintiffs
were subjected to a common discriminato-
ry scheme.’’));  see also Hallissey v. Am.
Online, Inc., Slip Copy, 2008 WL 465112,
at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 19, 2008) (a plaintiff
can satisfy this requirement by relying on
his own pleadings, affidavits, declarations,
or the affidavits and declarations of other
potential class members) (citing Anglada,
2007 WL 1552511, at *4).  I therefore
grant Doucoure leave to circulate the at-
tached notice of pendency—a copy of
Doucoure’s Notice which I have modified
consistent with this order—to other per-
sons similarly situated to himself pursuant
to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).5

[6] As to Matlyn’s argument that dis-
covery should be taken prior to circulating
the notice to determine the factual accura-
cy of Doucoure’s well-pleaded allegations, I
disagree for two reasons.  First, circulat-
ing the notice now is ‘‘a means of facilitat-
ing the Act’s broad remedial purpose and
promoting efficient case management.’’
Hoffmann, 982 F.Supp. at 262 (citing
Braunstein, 600 F.2d at 336).  In particu-
lar, early notice will help to preserve and
effectuate the rights of potential plaintiffs
whose claims might otherwise become
time-barred during the discovery phase of
the case.

Second, the preliminary determination I
now make does not prejudice Matlyn pre-
cisely because it is preliminary.  It may be
revisited if it later appears, after appropri-
ate discovery, that the additional plaintiffs
who opt to join the lawsuit, if any, are not
similarly situated to Doucoure.  Gjurovich,
282 F.Supp.2d at 96 (citation omitted);  see
also Rodolico, 199 F.R.D. at 484 (‘‘the
Court has discretion to create subclasses
or to dismantle the collective action’’).
Matlyn’s factual objections are better ad-
dressed at the conclusion of discovery, and
my decision preserves its ability to raise
these concerns in advance of any ruling by
the district court permitting the plaintiffs
to proceed to trial as a class.

III. Conclusion

For the reasons set out above, I find
that Doucoure has made the modest factu-
al showing needed to support a prelimi-
nary determination that there may be oth-
ers similarly situated to himself who
should be notified of their opportunity to
join this suit as plaintiffs.  I therefore
grant him leave to disseminate the at-

5. I have modified Doucoure’s Notice in two
respects:  to make clear that similarly situated
employees who worked for Matlyn within
three years of the date of the notice may opt-

in to the instant lawsuit;  and to correct sever-
al minor grammatical and typographical er-
rors.
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tached modified notice of pendency to any
and all employees who have worked at
Matlyn in New York State at any time
within the last three years or who are
currently employed there if they:  1) are or
were employed as an hourly employee;
and 2) did not receive overtime compensa-
tion at the rate of time and one-half for
any work they performed in excess of forty
hours each week.

SO ORDERED.

,
  

KINGVISION PAY–PER–VIEW LTD.
as Broadcast Licensee of the May 14,
2005 Wright/Trinidad Program, Plain-
tiff,

v.

Julio VILLALOBOS, Individually and
as officer, director, shareholder and/or
principal of Taqueria La Mixteca
Rest. Inc. d/b/a Taqueria La Mixteca
Restaurant, and Taqueria La Mixteca
Rest. Inc. d/b/a Taqueria La Mixteca
Restaurant, Defendants.

No. 06–CV–2510 (FB)(MDG).

United States District Court,
E.D. New York.

May 8, 2008.

Background:  Distributor of boxing pro-
gram via closed-circuit television and en-
crypted satellite signal brought action
against individual and corporate owners of
restaurant, alleging that owners’ intercep-
tion and public showing of the program
violated Communications Act and Cable
Communications Policy Act provisions pro-
hibiting unauthorized reception of cable
programming.

Holdings:  The District Court, Block, Sen-
ior District Judge, adopted opinion of Mar-
ilyn Dolan Go, United States Magistrate
Judge, which held that:

(1) owners violated the Communications
Act by intercepting and receiving the
program without authorization;

(2) owners were jointly and severally lia-
ble;

(3) distributor was entitled to statutory
damages calculated by multiplying
number of customers in restaurant at
time of violation by residential rate
charged for the program;

(4) owners willfully intercepted and
showed the program, warranting en-
hanced damages;

(5) distributor was entitled to award of
attorney fees; and

(6) distributor was entitled to recover
costs incurred for investigator.

Ordered accordingly.

Go, United States Magistrate Judge.

1. United States Magistrates O27

If clear notice has been given of the
consequences of failure to object, and
there are no objections, the court may
adopt a magistrate judge’s report and rec-
ommendation without de novo review.

2. United States Magistrates O27

The court will excuse the failure to
object and conduct de novo review of a
magistrate judge’s report and recommen-
dation if it appears that the magistrate
judge may have committed plain error.

3. Corporations O507(1)

Under New York law, service of a
single document upon an officer of a corpo-
ration constitutes service upon the corpo-
ration itself as well as upon the individual
officer, provided that there has been simul-


